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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                             Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	WILLIAM J. PROVO, SR., 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

JANSSEN CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE 

COMPANY,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	       INTERLOCUTORY

       DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case No.  200102519
      AWCB Decision No.  04-0066  

       Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

       on  March  19,  2004



On February 19, 2004, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board heard the employee’s request for temporary total disability (TTD) from June 15, 2002, permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits, reemployment benefits, medical benefits, transportation costs, penalties, interest, attorney fees and costs.  The employee was represented by Michael J. Jensen, attorney at law.  The employer was represented by Robin Gabbert, attorney at law.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.  Board member Phil Ulmer was absent during closing argument but has reviewed the tape of the closing arguments prior to participating in deliberations in this case.

ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to TTD and if so, for what time period?

2. Is the employee entitled to PPI and if so, for what time period?

3. Is the employee entitled to compensation for medical costs?

4. Is the employee entitled to an evaluation for reemployment benefits?

5. Is the employee entitled to reimbursement for medically related transportation expenses?

6. Is the employee entitled to penalties on late paid compensation?

7. Is the employee entitled to interest on past benefits due since June 5, 2002 including interest on medical costs the employee has paid out of pocket and the paid by the private insurer?

8. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I.  History of the Claim

On February 22, 2001, the employee, a bricklayer, fell approximately eight feet off a scaffolding.  He landed on his back and right side on two 2x4’s nailed together which were lying on the frozen ground.  A cement block that had been on the scaffolding from which he fell also fell ten feet landing on the employee’s left rib cage area.  The cement block weighed  35 pounds.   It was later discovered that the employee broke four ribs on the right and aggravated his lumbar and thoracic back condition.  He also suffered a hematuria as a result of a kidney contusion.


The employee  worked as a bricklayer all his life.  He was 59 years of age at the time of the injury.  His son and his grandson also work as bricklayers.  His son was at the worksite on the day of the injury.  


The employee was taken to Alaska Regional Hospital’s emergency room.  There he was seen by Gilbert Dickie, M.D.  The employee’s left ribs and not his right ribs were x-rayed.
  As a result, at that time no rib fractures were observed.  Dr. Dickie did diagnose severe contusions to the thoracic and lumbar spine.
  The sprain was superimposed on the employee’s degenerative disc disease.  The employee was referred to his local family practitioner, David Werner, M.D.  On February 26, 2001, Dr. Werner also examined the x-rays and did not diagnose the broken ribs on the right side.  He did diagnose a contusion of muscles in the right flank and right paraspinous area with resultant pain and limitation of motion.


The employee then sought treatment from James Hunt, D.C., a chiropractor.  He ordered a MRI
 which was performed March 7, 2001.  It showed factures of the ninth, tenth, eleventh and possibly the twelfth ribs posteriorly.
  Another MRI of the lumbar spine was performed March 13, 2001.  It showed degenerative disc disease L1-L4 with mild-moderate spinal canal and neural foraminal narrowing at L3-L4.
  Disc bulges were evident at L2-L3 and L3-L4.
 


The employee continued to treat with Dr. Hunt.  On April 17, 2001, additional x-rays were taken which showed rib fractures along with some evidence of healing callus.
 On June 21, 2001, Dr. Hunt referred the employee to the Virginia Mason Medical Center for an opinion on the employee’s injuries and suggested treatment recommendations.
  On June 27, 2001, the employee was seen by Thomas Curtis, M.D. of the Virginia Mason Medical Center in Seattle, Washington.
  He found that the employee suffered from a thoracic strain accompanied by rib fractures.  He felt the employee might have suffered a disc injury as well.  He recommended “gentle conditioning exercises.”
  


The employee was next seen for an evaluation by  Douglas Bald, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, and Richard L. Peterson, D.C. at the request of the employer.
  They diagnosed multiple contusions related to February 22, 2001 fall which were resolved, multiple fractures of right rib cage due to February 22, 2001 fall which had healed, lumbar strain secondary to the fall and degenerative disc disease of the thoracic and lumbar spine which was preexisting.
  They believed the rib fractures had healed completely although they would recommend more recent x-rays to confirm the solid union of the fractures.
  The opined that the multiple work related injuries were superimposed on the employee’s degenerative disc disease and osteophyte formation in the thoracic and lumbar spine which could potentially prolong his period of disability and need for treatment.
  They went on to recommend a referral to a physical therapist for “fairly aggressive stretching and strengthening low back and mid back rehabilitation program.”
  They also recommended a more aggressive home stretching and exercise regimen.  They opined that he was not able to return to work and he was not medically stable but with physical therapy they believed he would be capable of returning to his previous level of employment.  They did not recommend further diagnostic studies.


Based on the recommendation of the employer’s doctors, Dr. Hunt referred the employee to the Valley Hospital Physical Therapy Department.
  According to the employee’s testimony at hearing, he experienced considerable pain as a result of the physical therapy.  As a consequence of the physical therapy, the employee could only sleep in his recliner for a couple of hours each night due to pain.  At the conclusion of the physical therapy, his therapist reported that his low back pain decreased but his rib area increased with pain significantly.


The employee underwent a follow up evaluation by Dr. Bald at the employer’s request on November 15, 2001.
  He noted that the employee had fractures of the eighth, ninth, tenth, eleventh and twelfth ribs and, based on more recent x-rays, the fractures had developed non-unions with sclerotic borders of the eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh ribs which remained unhealed.
  Dr. Bald believed that the lumbar problems had resolved.  However, because of the rib fractures and subsequent non-union, the employee remained medically unstable and would require further treatment.  He also recommended use of a bone stimulator.  He opined that unless the fractures were completely and solidly healed, the employee would be unable to work in any capacity.


The employee continued to treat with Dr. Hunt.  A spine and thoracic cage bone scan was performed on the employee on January 6, 2003.
  It noted “abnormal uptake in the right L5-S1 facet joint region.”  It also addressed the rib fractures and indicated “they are still showing uptake, indicating there is still some bone remodeling going on.”
  X-rays were performed on March 12, 2002.
  There was no union of the eighth, ninth tenth and eleventh ribs.  There was some improvement since the September 14, 2001 x-ray in the eighth and tenth ribs.  The ninth and eleventh ribs remained unchanged.  


On June 15, 2002, the employer again sent the employee for an evaluation by Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson.  They concluded that the eighth and ninth ribs should be considered healed.  The tenth rib is probably healed and the eleventh rib is not united.
 The twelfth rib was not mentioned.  No additional x–rays were performed as part of the evaluation.  The employee was deemed to be medically stationary as of the date of the examination, June 15, 2002.
   They believed that if he was careful and used a protective lumbar support, he could return to work.  They did not believe that further treatment was necessary.  They found that the employee had no PPI rating associated with the February 22, 2001 injury.
  


At the hearing, Dr. Bald testified regarding the employee’s condition.  He saw the employee on August 15, 2001, November 15, 2001 and June 15, 2002.  He also did a review of the employee’s records on April 30, 2003.  He originally noted at the first evaluation that the employee suffered from pain in the rib cage and lower back, tenderness in the thoracic area.   His mobility was good but not quite normal.  Dr. Bald noted that the employee suffered from degenerative disc disease in the mid to lower back.  He found the employee to be not medically stationery.  At the November 15, 2001 visit, Dr. Bald noted there were more recent x-rays of the rib cage which showed fractures which had not healed.  His lower back complaints at this time were minimal.  Dr. Bald still did not believe the employee was stable or stationary.  At the June 15, 2002 visit, he noted that the employee still complained of pain in the rib cage and lower back.  Dr. Bald believed the ribs had healed based upon his clinical evaluation but the employee was suffering from degenerative disc disease of the thoracic and lumbar spine.  At this point, the employee was deemed medically stationary despite his persistent pain complaints. Dr. Bald asserts that x-rays taken August 5, 2002 show that the employee’s ribs were healed and were completely and solidly united.  Dr. Bald did not find that the employee suffered injury to his midback thoracic area.  His bone scan in January 2003 was normal in thoracic area.  In the April 30, 2003, based on additional medical reports, Dr. Bald reiterated that the employee was stable as of June 26, 2002 and any treatment rendered thereafter was for his degenerative disc disease.  


With respect the employee’s PPI rating, Dr. Bald finds that the employee has no PPI due to the fall as the AMA Guides for Permanent Impairment (Fifth Edition) do not recognize rib fractures as there is no loss of pulmonary function.   Dr. Bald disagrees with the employee’s physician, Dr. James’ June 4, 2003 thoracic and lumbar rating as it is not appropriate to include a category for rib cage fractures.  Dr. Bald maintains that there is no suggestion that the thoracic spine was injured.  He indicates that the rib injury does not result in impairment of permanent function. He also disagrees with Dr. Roth’s 30 % rating for pain and the employee’s level of pain does not qualify as excessive or severe or disabling.  He disagrees also with Dr. Roth using a rating for the thoracic spine to include injured ribs where they are “nearby”.  Dr. Bald considers this application of the AMA Guides  improper.  Dr. Roth finds no PPI as to the employee’s spine.  


On cross examination, Dr. Bald agreed that trauma could aggravate degenerative disc disease and that injury can make asymptomatic conditions symptomatic.  Dr. Bald stated that the employee’s injury symptoms ended as of June 15, 2002 and they then became related to degenerative disc disease. No medical record supports this conclusion.  The employee was considered to not need further treatment as of June 15, 2002 but Dr. Bald’s review of the employee’s records on April 30, 2003 show the employee receiving continuing treatment.  He was not asked by the employer to address the effect of the employee’s occupational activities on his back condition.  He notes that the bone healing process can involve formation of callus and remodeling and increased bone activity 18 months after the healing activity is complete.  According to Dr. Bald, this is why uptake is shown even where healing is complete.  The presence of remodeling does not preclude a finding of medical stability.  Dr. Bald concludes that after June 15, 2002, the employee’s injury was not a substantial factor in causing the employee’s back problems.


The employer accepted the employee’s workers’ claim and paid medical costs until June 15, 2002.  On July 1, 2002, the employer controverted all benefits effective June 15, 2002 including medical benefits.
  


On July 5, 2002, the employee filed his workers’ compensation claim.


On July 18, 2002, the employee was seen by David R. Chisolm, M.D., of Camelot Family Health in Wasilla.
  The employee presented Dr. Chisolm with a copy of Dr. Bald’s June 15, 2002 report and sought his own evaluation.  As related to the employee’s injury and claims, Dr. Chisolm arrived at several diagnoses including:

Low back pain-degenerative disc disease, probably preexisting his work injury on February 2001.

Chronic lumbosacral back strain related to his fall.


Dr. Chisolm opined that the employee continued to have lumbosacral back strain which has progressed into the right thoracic region and he has some tightness in the cervicothoracic junction.  He felt the employee was clearly not able to work.  He recommended further medical treatment.  Dr. Chisolm recommended a general stretching and conditioning program, soft tissue mobilization and lumbar stabilization program.
  


On August 5, 2002, additional x-rays were taken and compared with the x-rays of March 12, 2002.  They showed “multiple old healed rib fractures on the right, #8, #9, #10, and #11.
  


On August 21, 2002, the employee was referred to J. Michael James, M.D., of Rehabilitation Medicine Associates.  Dr. James saw the employee on  August 30, 2002.  He diagnosed healing fractures of the right rib cage which is the probable cause of his chest wall pain and degenerative arthritis of the lumbar spine with mechanical back pain of a myo ligamentous origin.  He referred the employee for an MRI and repeat films of the right ribs.


On August 31, 2002, a MRI of the lumbar spine was performed.  The report stated, in part:


The sagittal T2 weighted images demonstrate desiccation of disc material at all lumbar intervertebral disc spaces.  Further, there is mild diffuse annular bulging at 2-3, 3-4, and 4-5.  These bulges project into the neural foramen bilaterally.  Images 2, 6 and 10 of series 4 are demonstrative.  These bulges are less well defined on the axial images.  No mass effect upon the exiting nerve roots is defined and there is no significant central spinal stenosis at any level.

The images also are remarkable for severe bilateral 5-1 facet arthropathy, as noted on axial images 8 and 9.  There also is mild to moderate bilateral 4-5 facet arthropathy.  More proximal facet joints are normal.  The vertebral bodies are intact.  There is no spondylolisthesis or spondylolysis.  The lower thoracic cord and conus are unremarkable.

  
IMPRESSION:  1.  There is severe bilateral 5-1 facet arthropathy and mild to                                   

                                              moderate bilateral 4-5 facet arthropathy.  

2. Mild diffuse annular bulges are present at 2-3, 3-4, and

4-5 but no significant mass effect upon adjacent neural

elements is defined.




  3.   There is desiccation of disc material at all lumbar

      intervertebral disc spaces.

3. No significant change has occurred  in comparison to

earlier study.  Note that the earlier study does not include

axial images at 4-5 or 5-1 and thus I am unable to assess

the facets on the earlier exam.

Dr. James reviewed the MRI and films of the right ribs on October 11, 2002.  Dr. James concluded that they showed healed fractures at the seventh, eighth, ninth and tenth ribs.  He also observed nonunion of the fracture of the eleventh rib.  He also noted the multilevel disc desiccation disc protrusion at L3-L4.  He recommended median branch/lumbar facet blocks.


Dr. James performed a bilateral L4, L5 and S1 median branch block plus an L3-L4, L4-L5 and L5-S1 facet joint block with relief of the majority of the patient’s pain on October 14, 2002.
  The employee was also referred for treatment for hypertension.
 


When Dr. James saw the employee again on November 13, 2002, the employee reported 20-30 % improvement but still had continuing low back pain related to the SI joint.  Dr. James recommended diagnostic SI injections.
  The sacro-iliac block was performed November 20, 2002.


On December 13, 2002, Dr. James again saw the employee and noted that while the injections has resulted in improvement, the improvement was short lived.  The employee also complained of mid thoracic and lower thoracic spine pain.  A repeat of the injection was planned.  Shawna Wilson, ANP-C for Dr. James noted: 


I am somewhat concerned that he was having lower thoracic spine pain.  He is tender to palpation over the T9, T10, and T11 vertebral bodies and I wonder if he may have compression fractures with the amount of force.  I have reviewed his MRIs today and I have also reviewed them with Dr. James.  It does look as though there may be a small buckling of the vertebral body at the T10 level.  In order to evaluate this further, a limited bone scan will be ordered.


I do believe all of the patient’s current symptoms are related to his accident of 2/22/01.  I do believe we are still investigating the complete source of his pain and injuries and will comment further on this in the future.


The bone scan and SI joint injections were performed January 6, 2003.  The bone scan showed:


1. Findings consistent with old rib fractures on the right. They are  

still showing uptake, indicating there is still some bone  remodeling going on.               

                       2.  Abnormal uptake in the right L5-S1 facet joint region.


3. Soft tissue uptake in the right flank and hemi-pelvis which   needs further   

            evaluation, probably CT scan .
       

Again, on January 20, 2003, Dr. James saw the employee.  He reviewed the results of the bone scan and the SI joint injection.  He recommended further testing and an SI joint belt.

Shortly thereafter, the employee experienced an exacerbation of his condition.  When Dr. James saw him again on January 28, 2003, he diagnosed “exacerbation of his thoracic back pain and probably facet or costovertebral junction pain.”  Dr. James recommended  facet block and a medial branch block in the thoracic back.
  These were performed January 29, 2003.
  Dr James noted the nonunion of the eleventh rib and possible nonunion of the ninth rib.
  After these injections, the employee noted some improvement in his mid back pain but the area over the rib fractures was more painful.  The employee’s SI joint pain was improved.


On March 7, 2003, facet injections of the thoracic spine were performed.  Dr James issued a letter on March 11, 2003 commenting on the employee’s condition.  He wrote:


The patient has documented rib fractures, which I believe precipitated his thoracic back pain and causes persistence.


His low back pain also appears to be facet in origin superimposed upon degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine, the latter obviously preexisting, though I believe that his acute and now more chronic back pain is a permanent aggravation of a preexisting problem and the 2/22/01 injury is a substantial factor in causing this persistence.

He went on to state that the employee was not medically stable and that it was unlikely that he could return to work as a heavy manual laborer.  He recommended retraining.   He also anticipated a permanent impairment.


The employee under went injections on March 26 and April 28, 2003.  A sacroliac block was performed May 12, 2003.    


Dr. Bald  reviewed the employee’s medical file and issued his final report on April 30, 2003.
  He reviewed report of Dr. James treatment beginning August 30, 2002 as well as various diagnostic studies.  No mention is made of the August 5, 2002 x-ray.   He opined that the rib fractures had solidly and completely healed as of the most recent films.  He reiterated that the employee was medically stable and stationery as of June 15, 2002 and that treatment rendered after this time was for the employee’s degenerative disc disease and facet arthropathy.  He emphasized that the “wandering” nature of the employee’s pain complaints was consistent with a diagnosis of degenerative disc disease and facet arthropathy.  He opined that the injury caused a soft tissue strain of the lumbar spine, sustained no fracture nor did he have a ruptured or herniated disc in the thoracic or lumbar spine.  He further opined that the facet blocks are proper treatment in his view for degenerative facet arthropathy.  He also concluded that the thoracic facet block were not medically indicated.


On June 4, 2003, Dr. James evaluated the employee for an impairment rating.
  

At this point, the employee continued to complain of continued thoracic pain with referral to the chest wall.  He also noted upper lumbar back pain.  Dr. James’ impression included: 

right chest wall pain secondary to fracture of the ribs.  There are healed fractures of T8, T9, and T11 ribs on the right.  

Dr. James also diagnosed thoracic facet syndrome secondary to the rib fractures.  He diagnosed mechanical low back pain involving the lumbar spine and underlying degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine.  He concluded the SI joint pain was resolved.


He concluded that the employee was medically stable but that he could not return to work as a bricklayer.  He recommended retaining in another occupation.  He concluded that the employee had a thoracic spine rating of 8 percent and a lumbar spine rating of 5 percent and a 13 percent impairment of the whole man related to loss of range of motion for combined 18 percent impairment of the whole man.
  If the degenerative disc disease related to the employee’s occupational activities had been rated, the 18 percent figure would have been higher.  


Dr. James testified at the hearing.  He described the treatment rendered the employee.  He testified about x-rays done since June 2002.  The x-ray of August 31, 2002 shows non-union of the eleventh and tenth ribs.  According to Dr. James, the non-union means that the rib did not heal.  He also reviewed a bone scan done January 6, 2003, where he noted that the employee’s old rib fractures were still showing uptake indicating there is still some bone remodeling going on. Bone remodeling, according to Dr. James, is an indicator that the bone fracture is not healed.  Dr. James injected the ribs to alleviate the employee’s rib pain.  According to Dr. James, the employee continues to suffer from non-union of some of the fractured ribs.  This condition is a direct consequence of the employee’s injury.  He maintains that the employee’s medical treatment since June 2002 has been reasonable and necessary.  He does not believe the employee will return to his previous work but can work in sedentary employment. 


With regard to the employee’s lumbar condition, Dr. James notes that he has multilevel degenerative disc disease and disc protrusions at several levels.  Dr. James opines the employee’s fall was a substantial factor contributing to the employee’s lumbar symptoms.  Dr. James’ treatment was for his symptoms and not his underlying disc disease.  But for the injury, Dr. James does not believe he would be treating the employee.  Dr. James utilizes injections and medication to treat the lumbar condition.  In addition, the employee is required to limit his activities.  


With regard to the thoracic spine, the injury and resulting four rib fracture was a substantial factor in the employee’s need for treatment.  Dr. James noted that the ribs and the vertebral joints were disturbed by the force of the injury.  According to Dr. James, but for the injury the employee would not be receiving treatment.   According to Dr. James, the treatment has been reasonable and necessary.  He doubts that the employee’s thoracic condition will improve.   


Dr. James’ 18 percent rating rendered in June 2003 was for the employee’s thoracic, lumbar and rib conditions.  Dr. James was asked about why he did not submit the employee’s medical reports with the appropriate workers’ compensation forms attached and he explained that the adjuster’s did not ask for the form.


Dr. James also opined that the employee’s degenerative disc disease was related to the bricklaying work performed by the employee.  Specifically, Dr. James believed the employee’s lumbar condition and degenerative disc disease was related to this bricklaying work.  The lumbar condition was asymptomatic prior to the injury.  The thoracic condition and the employee’s rib conditions were considered to be related to the injury and not to the employee’s occupational activities.


On cross examination, Dr. James explained that although he is a physiatrist and pain management specialist, he is not a radiologist although he reads x-rays often in his work.  He noted that the employee had a positive bone scan six months after the August 31, 2002 x-ray which indicated that positive bone remodeling was still going on.  He noted that while the employee may have had a prior back injury in 1961, that injury would not have produced the type of multilevel degenerative disc disease he found the employee to be experiencing.  
 



Alan Roth, M.D. saw the employee for a second independent medical examination on September 29, 2003.
  He noted the circumstances of the injury and that Dr. Hunt provided the employee with electrical stimulation and ultrasound.  He also noted that despite lifting up to 65 pounds three hundred times a day, the employee denied low back pain or prior low back injuries.  The employee’s job description included welding metal parts to steel structural members and applying plaster to walls.  This is considered heavy work, involving lifting 50-100 pounds occasionally and 20-50 pounds frequently or 10-20 pounds constantly.
  He notes that the employee still has a non-union of the eleventh rib and possible nonunion of the ninth rib.


Dr. Roth’s impression was (1) moderately severe pre-existing lumbosacral and thoracic degenerative spine disease including facet degeneration and (2) status post multiple rib fractures, right side, as a result of work-related injury.
  He noted that the rib fractures have taken an unusually long time to heal and that one or two of the ribs appear to continue towards healing.  He recommended consideration of a bone stimulator.  He rated the employee’s credibility as high.
  He did not believe the employee was magnifying his symptoms.  Dr. Roth also noted that the x-rays and bone scans continued to show significant abnormalities.  


Dr. Roth recommended continued anti-inflammatory medications and a bone stimulator on a trial basis over a one to two month period.
  Dr. Roth opined that while the employee’s right rib pain was related to the February 22, 2001 injury, the lower back pain was unrelated.  


Dr. Roth also responded to a question about the impact of his heavy-duty work as a bricklayer since 1989 and whether this had been a substantial contributing factor in his lumbar and/or thoracic spine condition.  He stated:


The patient’s repetitive bending, lifting and stooping with described heavy and very heavy work on a frequent basis probably has been a substantial contributing factor in the lumbar and/or thoracic spine condition.  He describes lifting 54 lbs., three hundred times per day and this would certainly predispose one and be a contributing factor in the development of his spine condition.

When asked about the employee’s rib fractures and subsequent non-unions of the ribs and whether these contribute to his pain complaints and need for treatment, Dr. Roth responded:


Yes.  The Patient has developed non-unions to his ribs, although as there continues to be some evidence of healing on the bone scan, technically these may be very delayed unions, although by the length of time alone they can be called non-unions.  At any rate, these have remained symptomatic and he has sought treatment as a result of the rib pain in addition to some of the back pain.

When asked about whether the February 22, 2001 injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with a pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment or the disability, Dr. Roth concluded:


Yes.  The patient did have some degenerative spine disease previously, which is still present.  The acute fractures and chronic sequelae have at least combined to produce the need for medical treatment.

Dr. Roth went on to question the need for chiropractic treatment.  He noted that although Dr. James’ injections have resulted in some transitory improvement, he would not recommend repeating them.  He did note that the relief provided by injections at the site of the rib fracture suggested that the employee’s pain was still at the fracture site and to a lesser degree at the spine.  He further opined that the employee had probably reached medical stability when see by Dr. Bald in 2002 although he still believed that based on the x-rays and bone scan, healing was still going on.  Dr. Roth predicted that while the employee could not return to work as a bricklayer, he would be able to work with a lifting restriction of 25 pounds and with allowance for changing positions.


Dr. Roth performed impairment ratings and gave the employee’s thoraco lumbosacral spine a 0 percent impairment rating; he gave the employee a 30 percent impairment rating.


On October 20, 2003, Dr. Roth supplemented the SIME after review of additional records.  He confirmed that the employee’s lumbar spine does have a clinical history and examination compatible with a specific injury.  After acknowledging the difficulty in rating the employee’s condition, Dr. Roth revised his earlier PPI assessment.  He reevaluated the employee’s lumbar spine and rated his impairment at 8 percent.  His thoracic spine condition was rated at 8 percent.  Combining the two ratings, resulted in a 15% whole person impairment.
  He then added an added a 3 percent rating based on pain for a total impairment rating of 18 percent.  He went on to say:


Certainly the degenerative facet findings, the mild compression fracture of L1 and some of the SI joint findings predated his injury.  On the other hand, the fractured ribs clearly occurred at the time of the injury.  Further, the patient immediately prior to his fall was entirely asymptomatic, able to lift 65 pounds 300 times a day, and squat and stoop all day long.  He states he had residual low back pain from his prior injuries and there is no evidence brought forward to suggest otherwise.  Thus, apportionment of impairment or disability is probably not necessary.  This is particularly true given the Alaska laws suggesting that the employer aggravated, accelerated or combined with the pre-existing condition to result in disability or need for medical care.  Clearly, the injury and employment was a substantial factor in producing the disability in that the patient’s present condition would not have occurred at the time it did, becoming symptomatic in the way it did, or to the degree it did, but for the employment and reasonable people would regard the rib fractures and fall as a cause and attach responsibility to it.


James D. Hunt, D.C. treated the employee for a considerable period since his injury.  He provided chiropractic treatment primarily designed to ameliorate the employee’s pain. In his letter of October 14, 2003, Dr. Hunt took issue with Dr. Roth’s opinions expressed about the employee’s condition.  He emphasized that his treatment was designed to only give the employee temporary relief while the ribs were in the process of healing.  He noted that with regard to the bone stimulator that he had attempted to reach Dr. Bald and Dr. Hadley by phone but neither returned his calls.  With regard to the manipulative treatment he provided, he challenged Dr. Roth’s statement that “no chiropractic care was necessary and again may have contributed to the poor outcome.”  Dr. Hunt responded that he had done only sacroiliac manipulation with low force and prone with no twisting or stress to the employee’s ribs or thoracic spine.  He stated that he never manipulated or stressed the employee’s ribs or thoracic spine.  Dr. Hunt reiterated his concern about the aggressive physical therapy  recommended by Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson and opined  that this may have contributed to the employee’s poor outcome.  Finally, Dr. Hunt disagreed with Dr. Roth’s conclusion that the employee’s lower back pain was unrelated to the work injury of February 22, 2001.  Dr. Hunt noted that the employee had no documented  lower back pain prior to his injury.  He went on to claim that even if he had lumbosacral degenerative spine disease, it was asymptomatic until his work injury.


At the hearing, Dr. Hunt testified that he treated the employee beginning in 2001 after his February 22, 2001 injury.  He objected to the “aggressive” physical therapy recommendation by Dr. Bald when this activity would activate the employee’s ribs rather than keeping them immobilized as much as possible to allow healing to occur.  Before the physical therapy, the employee was able to lie down.  After the physical therapy commenced, the employee experienced increased pain and had to sleep in a recliner which represented a major setback in his healing process.  Dr. Hunt attempted to secure a bone stimulator but was not able to get information about obtaining one as Dr. Bald would not return his calls.  Dr. Hunt noted that during the time he treated the employee, his symptoms never stopped and were attributable to the employee’s February 22, 2001 injury.  Dr. Hunt provided the employee relief from symptoms.  Dr. Hunt also read the August 31, 2002 x-ray.  It showed callus formation on several ribs and a fracture or nonunion on at least one rib.  A nonunion causes pain. Dr. Hunt reads x-rays as part of his work.  He is not qualified to read bone scans.  Dr. Hunt does not believe the employee can return his former occupation as a bricklayer.  Dr. Hunt believes that the employee’s injury was a substantial factor in his back condition and aggravation of his asymptomatic back condition. Dr. Hunt notes the employee needed no treatment for his back prior to February 22, 2001.  Dr. Hunt supports Dr. James’ opinion regarding causation and need for the employee’s treatment.   


Joseph Dordevich testified regarding the employee’s work.  He was his supervisor since 1989.  He has worked as a bricklayer for the employer for 40 years. The work week was 60-70 hours per week.  The bricklayers worked year round. He attested to the employee’s lifting 65 pound blocks 300 times a day.  He was present at the time of the injury.  He estimated the weight of the block which fell on the employee to be 40-50 pounds.  


William Provo, Jr., the employee’s son, testified on behalf of the employee.  He also works as a bricklayer and was working at the site where his father fell on February 22, 2001.  He noted that his father had no back problems prior to the injury of February 22, 2001.  He has seen his father since the injury and noted his continuing problems with pain.  His main problem was sleeping and finding positions to stabilize his ribs. Physical therapy caused him to regress and to experience more difficulty sleeping.  


Tammy Kay Provo, the employee’s wife testified at the hearing.  She testified regarding having the family’s private carrier pay for the employee’s health care after the employer’s controversions.  She also indicated that she and her husband had incurred 1650 miles traveling two and from medical providers since the 2002 injury.
  She also testified that the employee has paid $3,869.00 out of pocket for medical care.  The family’s Premera/Blue Cross private carrier paid $29,081.91.
  The witness also testified regarding the employee’s problems occasioned by the physical therapy and how it caused him to lose progress he was making in his recovery.  He was not able to sleep in bed but had to sleep in a recliner.  Since the injury, he has never fully recovered but the injections performed by Dr. James have helped.  While the employee was once active, he requires considerable assistance to do ordinary tasks the performance of which is often painful.  He had never seen a doctor for back or rib problems prior to the injury.  The employee has been receiving $1457.00 in social security disability benefits and $348.00 each month from the Bricklayers International Pension Fund.    


William Provo also testified regarding the injury and his condition.  He does not believe that his ribs have fully healed as he can feel them move.  He also has difficulties extending his right arm.  He has experienced varying degrees of pain from the time of the injury to the present.    Sleeping involves spending some portion of the night in the recliner.  He has not performed any other type of work.  

II.
Medical Treatment and Medical Transportation Expenses


After the controversion of July 1, 2002, the employee paid some of his own medical treatment expenses.  His private insurance company, Premera/Blue Cross also paid for his medical treatment.  The employee also incurred medical transportation expenses which have not been reimbursed by the employer. 

III.
 Reemployment Benefits



The employee claims reemployment benefits based on his desire for retraining to a job which will suit his physical limitations.

IV.
Attorney’s Fees and Costs

The employee’s counsel claimed 92.70 in attorney hours billed at the rate of $265.00 for a total of $24,565.50 for preparation of the case. This amount includes an additional eight hours for the February 19, 2004 hearing.  Also claimed were 55.60 in paralegal costs billed at the rate of $105.00 per hour for a total of $5,838.00.  The employee’s counsel also claims the following costs:


Expert witness fees




$1,630.00


State of Alaska copy charges



      $50.25


Expert witness conf fee



    $360.00


Client telephone charges  



      $50.00


Client transportation to hearing; witness mtgs                  $180.00



Fax charges





      $81.00


Courier charges



                 $160.00




Telephone charges (est.) 



     $120.00


Postage





       $28.90


Copies 






     $450.00












  $3,110.15

V.
Employer Position


The employer claims that the claim for compensability based on the employee’s lifetime of work as a bricklayer and its effects on his thoracic and spine should be dismissed as barred by the statute of limitations.  AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.105.  It also claims that under Robinson v. MOA,
 the claim must be filed as a separate claim.

              The employer bases its position that the February 22, 2001 injury was healed and the employee needed no further treatment and could return to work on Dr. Bald’s and Dr. Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report. The employer maintains that the employee is entitled to no PPI rating for healed rib fractures and low back strain which had temporarily aggravated the employee’s degenerative disc disease.  The employer also claims that the employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits as the employee did not request such benefits in a timely manner under AS 23.30.041.


The employer maintains that the employee is not entitled to additional medical benefits as the care rendered after June 15, 2002 was for the employee’s degenerative disc disease.  The employer also claims that the employee is not entitled to have medical expenses paid where no medical report form is filed.

VI.
Employee Position


The employee contends that it has demonstrated that the employee has sustained compensable injuries on two bases.   The first is based on the employee’s injury on February 22, 2001.  The employee also maintains that the nature of the employee’s work, i.e. lifting heavy bricks, for example, over many years has caused compensable injury.  As to the  filing of a separate claim for this theory of compensability, the employee notes that the matter of the effect of years of heavy lifting was raised at a prehearing conference conducted  November 13, 2003.
  It was also the source of questions by the prehearing conference officer as part of the SIME process.
  As a result, the employee claims that the employer cannot claim surprise with the addition of a separate theory as the basis for establishing a compensable injury.


The employee seeks penalties for late payment of benefits, TTD from June 15, 2002 forward, payment for the employee’s out of pocket medical expenses, PPI upon reaching medical stability, that the employee be evaluated for eligibility for reemployment benefits, interest on past due benefits including out of pocket payment of medical expenses by the employee and payment of the employee’s private health provider, payment for future medical expenses and reimbursement for medical transportation costs incurred since June 15, 2002.  The employee also seeks payment to the employee’s private health insurance, Premera/Blue Cross for medical costs it has paid as a result of the employer’s controversion.  The employee also seeks minimum attorney’s fees.     The employee also claims payment for his legal costs.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

We begin our analysis of the issues in this case by addressing both the employee’s claim related to the injuries sustained as a result of the February 22, 2001 as well as the injuries sustained as a result of his occupational activities as a bricklayer.  We have reviewed the employer’s objection to hearing the claim regarding the employee’s alleged back problems related to the nature of his occupation.  We believe the employer had ample notice that the employee was including this additional basis for its claim well in advance of the hearing.  While the employer urges that Robinson v. MOA
 requires that a new claim be filed, we disagree, based on the fact that the employee attempted to raise a new claim in his brief in Robinson whereas the employee in the instant case raised his claim based on the occupational demands of the employee’s work months before this matter was heard.  On this basis, no separate filing of the occupation claim is required.  No prejudice has occurred to hearing this additional basis for the employee’s claim.  We deny the employer’s objection to hearing the occupational basis for the claim as we wish to avoid “claim splitting.”
  We also believe that it is entirely reasonable that the employee was not really aware that he had an occupational basis for a claim until further discussions with his doctors brought the matter to light.

I.  APPLICABLE LAW

The insured worker is afforded a presumption that all benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the employer's evidence is examined in isolation.


There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
 "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.


The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of approving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.

II.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, we find that when the employee was injured and received emergency room treatment from Dr. Dickie as well as treatment from Dr. Hunt, the presumption of compensability was raised.  The Board finds that this evidence is sufficient to establish a “preliminary link” between the work accident and the employee’s claims for benefits.


With respect to the employee’s claim for benefits based on his occupational activities as a bricklayer, we find that the doctor statements of Dr. James, Dr. Hunt  and Dr. Roth are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability.  The Board finds that this evidence was sufficient to establish a “preliminary link” between the work activities and the employee’s claims for benefits.   


Turning to the second stage of the presumption analysis, we find burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.  The employer presented Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson’s report of June 15, 2002 to show that the employee’s ribs had healed, that he could return to work and needed no further treatment.  The Board examines this evidence in isolation.  The Board finds that the employer has failed to rebut the presumption of compensability regarding the February 22, 2001 injury by offering the June 15, 2002 report of Drs. Bald and  Peterson.  Although this report states that the employee’s ribs are healed and that he can return to work with no need for additional treatment, we find that it does not rebut the presumption of compensability. The report is not based on objective evidence showing that the ribs are healed.  Therefore, we find that the employer has not overcome the presumption of compensability and the employee’s claim is accordingly found compensable.  


With respect to the employee’s claim that his occupation as a bricklayer caused his back problems, we find that Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report does not address the occupational causes for the employee’s back condition and, as such, cannot not be considered to rebut the presumption of compensability.  This evidence is viewed in isolation. Dr. Bald testified that he was not asked by the employer to investigate the work related as opposed to injury related causes for the employee’s back condition.  We find that the employee did not actually raise this claim until the summer of 2003.  Notwithstanding this delay, the occupational basis for the employee’s injury was addressed by Dr. Roth in the SIME and was addressed by Dr. Hunt in his letter of October 14, 2003 as well as in the reports of Dr. James.  We find that the employer failed to offer evidence which would challenge the occupational nature of his injury.  For this reason, we find the presumption of compensability has been raised by the employee and not rebutted by the employer. 


Even if we were to find that the employer’s June 15, 2000 medical report from Drs. Bald and Peterson is sufficient to overcome the presumption of compensability, we find that at the third stage of the presumption, the employee would prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Here, the employee’s medical reports, particularly those offered by Dr. James and Dr. Hunt reports and their testimony and Dr. Roth’s reports
 all represent substantial evidence of the existence of a compensable injury as a result of the February 22, 2001 injury as well as based on his occupational activities as a bricklayer.  We also rely on the testimony given by Drs. James and Hunt in support of the employee’s claims both as a result of the injury and the employee’s occupation activities.
  We find that Drs. James and Hunt review x-rays in their daily practice and are fully able to read them.  While Dr. Hunt does not read bone scans, Dr. James does.  We find that their testimony regarding this claim is credible.  AS 23.30.122.   We would discount the June 15, 2002 medical report authored by Drs. Bald and Peterson as it concludes that the employee’s ribs, except for the eleventh rib, have healed based on review of the March 12, 2002 x-ray.  We do not believe this report was reliable and we are required to find evidence to be comprehensive and reliable if it is to overcome the presumption of compensability.


We also do not believe that Drs. Bald and Peterson’s June 15 2002 report rules out the compensability of the employee’s claim based on the occupational demands of his work.

We find that the employee’s work and his injuries were not ruled out as a factor in his continuing need for treatment and his impairment.


With regard to the employee’s underlying degenerative disc disease, under the DeYonge
 precedent, the Board finds that in applying the presumption analysis, the employer must produce substantial evidence that the injury is no longer work related in order to rebut the presumption of continuing compensability.  The employer must produce substantial evidence to show that either non-work related events alone caused the worsening of the employee’s condition or there was no possibility that the employee’s injuries and/or work caused his aggravation and need for treatment.  The DeYonge decision makes it clear that the employee’s genetic predisposition does not disqualify a claim.  In addressing this issue in DeYonge, a case involving an employee’s arthritis which was aggravated by work, the Alaska Supreme Court stated:


…a preexisting… infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work connected requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the…infirmity to produce the …disability for which compensation is sought.
 

Applying this precedent to the facts at hand, we find that the employee’s employment aggravated, accelerated and combined with his degenerative disc disease to produce his disability and need for treatment.  This finding is based on the medical reports and testimony of Drs. James and Hunt and Dr. Roth’s reports.  The employee’s preexisting condition was never shown by the employer to be the exclusive cause of the employee’s injury and need for treatment since June 15, 2002.  The employer would have had to meet this standard of proof to rebut the presumption of compensability.  The Board finds that the employer’s proof did not rebut the presumption of compensability.


Even if we were to find that the presumption of compensability had been rebutted at the second stage of the presumption analysis, at the third stage of the analysis we find that the preponderance of substantial evidence establishes that the nature of the employee’s work caused his degenerative disc disease.  This result is based on the testimony and reports of Drs. James and Hunt and on the reports of Dr. Roth.

III.  TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY

AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute. 
  As a result, we will apply the three-step process outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to TTD.  Based on our analysis set forth above, we find that the employee has raised the presumption of compensability for time loss upon his sustaining the injury in question and seeing Dr. Dickie in the emergency room.  The employer acknowledged this by paying the employee TTD until July 1, 2002 when TTD was controverted based on the June 15, 2002 Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson report.  As described above, we do not rely on Dr Bald’s and Dr. Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report for the proposition that the employee’s ribs were healed and he could go back to work.  Thus, the presumption of compensability is not rebutted.  Even if it were rebutted, we further find that the employee saw Dr. Chisolm on July 17, 2002 and he affirmed that the employee could not return to work. Dr. Hunt also did not believe the employee could return to work. This opinion was also confirmed by Dr. James when he saw the employee. 
 Dr. James did not find him to be medically stable until he did the PPI rating in his report of June 4, 2003.  For these reasons, we find that the employee was entitled to TTD fro July 1, 2002 to June 4, 2003.

IV.  PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT

AS 23.30.190 addresses compensation for permanent partial impairment. Subsection (a) states, in part:  

In case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability, the compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.


The employee seeks PPI benefits. The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.
  We will apply the three step process outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to PPI.  The employee testified regarding his pain from the time of his injury to the present.  He consulted with Dr. Dickie at the emergency room and his pain was noted at that time.
  His complaints regarding pain were noted in the reports made by Dr. Hunt and eventually Dr. James.  In applying the presumption analysis, we find that the employee raised the presumption of compensability with regard to PPI in his consultations with Drs. Dickie, Chisolm, Hunt and James.


The only evidence offered by the employer to rebut the presumption of compensability is the June 15, 2002 report of Drs. Bald and Peterson.  In it, they opine that that the employee can return to work, has no ratable permanent impairment and needs no further treatment.  We examine this report in isolation.  For the reasons set forth in analysis of the employee’s entitlement to other benefits, we reject this report as not based on sufficient objective evidence that his ribs had healed.


Even if we were to find that the June 15, 2002 Bald and Peterson report does rebut the presumption of compensability, and we were to go to stage three of the presumption analysis, we find that based on the preponderance of the evidence the employee had suffered a permanent ratable impairment.  Dr. James in his June 4, 2003 report gives the employee an 18 percent impairment.
  We also find that the employee received an 18 percent impairment rating from the SIME physician, Dr. Roth’s report of October 20, 2003.
  For these reasons, we find that 18 percent is the proper rating for the employee’s permanent impairment.  The employee's testimony regarding the pain he suffers on an ongoing basis is very credible and was corroborated by his doctors and family members.  The Board finds the 18% PPI is the most accurate gauge of the employee's true impairment.  As additional questions remain about whether the employee’s occupational related disability was evaluated for rating purposes, this matter should be referred for additional evaluation.  Since the employee suffers a permanent impairment related to his work injury, and the employee’s physicians and the SIME have indicated he is unable to return to work, this matter is referred to the Reemployment Benefits Administrator for an eligibility evaluation.
  Any timeliness issues regarding his request for reemployment benefits should be resolved with consideration given to AS 23.30.041( c ).

V.  MEDICAL EXPENSES AND MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES

AS 23.30.095 provides, in part:

(a) the employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee…It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right to review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.

Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).


Applying the presumption analysis, we find that the employee’s medical treatment began with his trip to the emergency room on the day of the injury.  He also required medical treatment after June 2002 and sought  treatment from Dr. Chisolm, Dr. James and Dr. Hunt.  These treatment visits are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability.  


At the second stage of the presumption analysis, we find the only doctor statement to oppose the employee’s need for treatment comes from Drs. Bald and Peterson in their June 15, 2002 report.  We find that the employee’s seeking treatment from the day of his injury through seeking care from Dr. Chisolm, Dr. Hunt and Dr. James raised the presumption and the presumption is not rebutted by Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report. For the reason stated above, the  report is not based on sufficient, objective evidence.


Even if we were to conclude that Dr. Bald and Dr. Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report rebutted the presumption, we would  reach the third state of the presumption analysis where the employee would be required to prove the need for medical care by a preponderance of the evidence.  In this case, we would find that the employee has by a preponderance of the evidence established a need for continuing medical treatment in view of the reports of Dr. Chisolm, Dr. James and Dr. Hunt.  The Board finds that the employee’s medical treatment since June 15, 2002 was reasonable and necessary and falls within the terms of AS 23.30.095.  The employee is entitled to payment for his reasonable and necessary medical expenses from July 1, 2002 and ongoing.  With regard to the problem of lack of proper forms on Dr. James medical reports, we will allow his office an opportunity to submit the required forms for the reports.


8 AAC 45.082(d) and 8 AAC 45.084 address medical transportation expenses.  Subsection (a) of 8 AAC 45.084 applies to expenses to be paid by an employer to an employee who is receiving or has received medical treatment.  We find the medically related transportation expenses to be reasonable given that this mileage spans three years and involves travel between Sutton and Anchorage which is 60 miles one way.  Most of the employee’s treatment providers are in Anchorage and the employee resides in Sutton.  


Under these circumstances, we order that the employee’s reasonable transportation costs related to receiving medical services be paid.  We further order that future transportation costs associated with medical treatment also be reimbursed upon submission of supporting documentation.

VI. PENALTIES
AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(d) . . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.


Applying these provisions to the case at hand, we find that the employer does not owe a 25 percent penalty where it interposed a good faith controversion of all benefits as of July 1, 2002 based on Drs. Bald and Peterson’s June 15, 2002 report.

VII.  INTEREST
   8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under 
an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly we will award interest to the employee under 8 AAC 45.142(a)&(b)(3) on all TTD and PPI benefits and medical benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due to him.  We will also award interest under 8 AAC 45.142(b)(3)(C) to any medical provider or payer reimbursed as a result of this decision.

VIII.  ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS

  AS 23.30.145 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less then 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded….  In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.  

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


Based on the facts in this case, we find the employer controverted and otherwise resisted paying the employee benefits and conclude we may award attorney's fees under subsection AS 23.30.145(b).  Subsection .145(b) requires that the attorney’s fees awarded be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires that a fee awarded under subsection .145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that we consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.


We find the employer controverted and resisted payment of medical, TTD and PPI benefits the employee claimed beginning July 1, 2002.  This resistance required him to obtain the assistance of an attorney.  The employee has requested attorney’s fees totaling $24,565.50.  Practice in the Workers' Compensation forum is contingent upon prevailing on issues presented to the Board.  The employee's counsel has practiced in the specialized area of workers' compensation law for many years.  In light of Mr. Jensen’s experience and the contingent nature of workers’ compensation practice, we find $240.00 per hour to be a reasonable hourly rate for Mr. Jensen.  His claimed hours amounting to 92.70 are reasonable given the nature of this case.  We find the employee’s claimed paralegal costs of $105.00 to be reasonable as were the hours billed for this service.


Regarding costs, the affidavit reflects costs totaling $3,110.15.  We find the costs claimed by the employee to be reasonable and necessary and appropriate pursuant to 8 AAC 45.180(f).  The employee should provide documentation where required by the employer.    The employee should also document the number of copies associated with the copying costs.



ORDER

1.  The employee is entitled to TTD from July 1, 2002 until June 4, 2003, with interest.


2.  The employee is entitled to an 18 percent PPI rating and lump sum, with interest, based upon Dr. James’ June 4, 2003  report.


3.  The employee is entitled to compensation for past, present and future medical expenses incurred after the July 1, 2002 controversion.  This includes the employee’s out of pocket medical expenses and medical expenses paid by the employer’s private insurance carrier.   Dr. James should submit medical forms to be associated with medical reports submitted for the employee.   


4.    The employee’s reasonable medical transportation expenses shall be paid by the employer. The employee’s future medical transportation costs should also be reimbursed upon the employee’s submission of supporting documentation.



5.   The employee is entitled to an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits.

6. The employee is not entitled to a 25 % penalty on the late paid benefits.

7. The employee is entitled to interest on late paid medical expenses, TTD and PPI.


8.  The employer is ordered to pay the employee $22,248.00 in attorney’s fees calculated at the rate of $240.00 per hour and  $5,835.00 in paralegal fees calculated at the rate of $105.00 per hour.


9.    The employer is ordered to pay $3,110.15 in legal costs.


10.  The employer’s objection to hearing the occupational basis for the employee’s claim is denied.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this  19th day of  March,  2004.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD







______________________________                                






 Rosemary Foster, Designated Chair









______________________________                                  






 John Abshire, Member

Dissent by Board Member Phil Ulmer:

I concur with my colleagues on the narrative of the basic facts in the case.  I do vary in my opinion regarding the interpretation of the facts and how this impacts the final Decision and Order.  As I sat through the testimony of the medical providers, I could not give more credibility or weight to Dr. James and Dr. Hunter's testimony than the testimony of the employer's independent medical examinations.  There was definitely conflicting opinions regarding ratings, x-ray and bone scan interpretation, and even the proper course of medical treatment.  Frankly, I do not think after a full day of hearing that I felt either side convinced me of their position.  Clearly, there is a dispute among the two sides' medical providers.  I believe I would be better served, and I believe the Board would have been better served, by ordering a SIME to bring more clarification to the disputes in the medical testimony.  Therefore, my position is that I would have preferred ordering an SIME.  In the long run, I feel this would have resulted in bringing a long term closure to this case.    


                                                                   _________________________                                 



     Phil Ulmer, Member
     
If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

     
If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

            Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

            I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of WILLIAM J. PROVO, employee / applicant, v. JANSSEN CONTRACTING COMPANY, INC., employer, and ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer / defendants, Case No. 200102519; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 19th     day of  March,  2004.

                             
_________________________________

                                                                                     Robin Burns, Clerk
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